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COMES NOW, Jonathan N. Costa (hereinafter “Complainant” or “Costa”), by and through 

his counsel of record, and for his Complaint against Aramark Sports and Entertainment Services, 

LLC (hereinafter “Aramark” or “Employer”), states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Costa began his employment with Aramark in April 2012 as a Food Safety Manager.  

2. Subsequently, Costa’s job duties and responsibilities increased, and his job title 

changed to District Safety Manager.   

3. As the District Safety Manager, one of Costa’s job duties is to assist management in 

providing a safe and compliant food environment at several Aramark venues in the Kansas City, 

Missouri area, including Kauffman Stadium, Arrowhead Stadium, Overland Park Convention 

Center, and Starlight Theatre.   

4. Throughout his employment, Costa has successfully performed the requirements of 

his job, and has been rewarded with two salary increases along the way.   

5. On many occasions, Costa has been applauded by his supervisors for being a “great 

asset” to the company, for his knowledge of food safety regulations (“he knows this info better than 
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anyone”), and his “continued leadership” of Aramark’s food safety program.   

6. To this day, Costa has committed himself to improving the food safety and quality at 

the Aramark facilities to which he is assigned.  He has worked tirelessly to train and educate 

Aramark employees in food safety and quality, and he has strived to continuously improve 

Aramark’s safety performance.   

7. Unfortunately, however, Costa’s passion for compliance with food safety laws and 

regulations has not been shared by Aramark management.   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

8. Over the past two years, Costa has reported the following critical food and safety 

violations, among others, to Aramark management, including senior level officials:   

a. In June 2012, Costa generated a hot holding analysis report and distributed it 

to four Aramark managers.  The report documented Aramark’s failure to maintain proper 

temperatures on hot dogs and other proteins served at the facility.  Aramark management chastised 

Costa for preparing the report, collected all of the reports, and destroyed them.   

b. In April 2013, Costa met with John Caponiti, Aramark’s Director of Safety & 

Risk Control, for a yearly audit.  When asked by Mr. Caponiti, Costa explained that he received 

little support from Aramark with respect to food safety and compliance issues.  No effective 

remedial action was taken.          

c. In November 2013, Costa provided a hand soap assessment report to 

Aramark management which identified a lack of hand washing and proper hygienic practices, and a 

lack of food safety training at Soldier Field in Chicago, Illinois.  No effective remedial action was 

taken.         

d. In May 2014, Costa met with Ms. Adelia Marchese, Aramark’s Safety and 
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Risk Control Specialist, for a yearly audit.  Again, Costa notified Ms. Marchese that he received 

little support from Aramark management with respect to food safety and compliance issues.  He 

said he was powerless to effect cultural change because of his inability to discipline or counsel food 

safety workers.  During her visit, Ms. Marchese personally witnessed employee resistance to food 

safety concerns and many critical food safety violations (temp logs not used, hot boxes with missing 

internal temperature gauges, hot and cold issues, sanitation violations, presence of chemicals near 

food, excessive jewelry by food workers, etc.).  Aramark management was notified of the negative 

audit results and Costa was asked to prepare an action plan to address the issues, which he did.   

e. On May 8, 2014, Costa sent an e-mail to Mr. Carl Mittleman, President of 

Aramark’s Sports & Entertainment Division, asking to discuss his role as District Safety Manager 

and to share his concerns with him.  Costa said he was even willing to travel and speak with Mr. 

Mittleman at his own expense.  Mr. Mittleman responded and suggested that Costa utilize an 

upcoming meeting with the District Manager to address his concerns.             

f. On May 9, 2014, Costa submitted two detailed PowerPoint reports to 

Aramark’s Safety & Risk Control team regarding two recent events: Buck Night and Draft Party.  

These reports identified countless food and safety concerns (no hand sinks, no refrigeration for cold 

holding, hygiene issues, chemicals stored close to foods, poor hot holding temperatures, trip 

hazards, smoke inhalation, food storage, etc.).  Costa received no response to his reports.        

g. On May 12, 2014, Costa met with the District Manager, Mr. Scott McGinn, 

and provided him a detailed report of risk, safety, and liability concerns for his locations.  During 

this meeting, Mr. McGinn told Costa that he was already aware of the issues raised.  He told Costa 

that Aramark had a business to run.  He also told Costa: “It sounds to me like you don’t want to 

work for Aramark anymore.”   
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h. In September 2014, Costa provided Aramark management with a food and 

safety report following a concert at Starlight Theatre.  This report identified many food and safety 

violations, including poor hot holding temperatures, mold growth on boxes and ice machines, hand 

sinks used for dumping, chemicals in unlabeled bottles, personal belongings stored on food contact 

surfaces, and outdated food.  Costa received no response.              

i. In October 2014, Costa sent an e-mail to Mr. Eric Foss, President/CEO of 

Aramark, and introduced himself as the District Safety Manager in Kansas City, Missouri.  He 

attached a detailed video presentation identifying countless food and safety violations at his 

facilities (including cockroaches in vending areas, mouse feces on the same tray as pizza dough, 

sinks where employees were supposed to wash their hands being blocked by boxes or trash, 

employees eating in food prep areas and trays of food headed for customers that measured at unsafe 

temperatures).  Costa explained that he had tried to articulate such concerns to Aramark’s senior 

management, without success, and he was turning to Mr. Foss for guidance.  Costa explained that 

Aramark officials were simply ignoring his concerns.  Costa asked that he not be retaliated or 

reprimanded for bringing the concerns to his attention.  Costa did not receive a response from Mr. 

Foss or anyone with food and safety compliance experience at Aramark; instead, he received an e-

mail from Ms. Lydia Parigi, Senior HR Manager, who asked for additional information.    

j. On October 17, 2014, Costa sent Ms. Parigi additional information regarding 

his concerns and also posed the following questions: “(1) How would approximately 3000 season 

ticket holders react if they knew that no refrigeration or hand washing facilities were available to 

the staff that served them during the Draft Party? (2) How would the 20-30 thousand fans every 

Buck Night react knowing that their hot dog was prepared and temperature abused since 6:30a.m.? 

(3) How would some 70-80 thousand fans react if they knew that their mixed drinks were possibly 



 5

made with infused dead flying insects? (4) How would some 70-80 thousand fans react if they knew 

that 39% of hand sinks were not even used during an NFL game? (5) How would the public react if 

they knew what I know about the conditions of our kitchens and food safety infrastructure?”  Costa 

reiterated that his concerns were being ignored, and that he was willing to meet with anyone to 

address these issues.  

k. On October 20, 2014, Costa met with Ms. Allison Butler, Aramark’s 

Regional Vice President to discuss his concerns.  During their meeting, Ms. Butler admitted that she 

had not reviewed the video sent to Mr. Foss.  Costa provided her with detailed information about 

the critical food and safety violations to take back to her corporate offices.  Ms. Butler listened to 

his concerns and stated that she would work with him to solve the issues.  The following week, Ms. 

Butler turned Costa’s concerns over to Mr. Sean Hennessy, a new District Manager. 

l. On October 28, 2014, Costa met with Mr. Hennessy to discuss his growing 

list of food and safety concerns.  Mr. Hennessy told Costa that Aramark couldn’t address all of the 

concerns he had identified.  Instead, he asked if Costa could try and “narrow down” the issues to 

just five areas of managerial control.  Costa sent these recommendations to Mr. Hennessy that same 

day.  Mr. Hennessy said he would “catch up” with Costa the following day to discuss in detail, but 

failed to do so.   

m. On October 31, 2014, Costa sent Mr. Hennessy an e-mail to notify him about 

several critical food and safety issues during Game 7 of the World Series.  One of those issues dealt 

with outdated pizza dough served to customers, and Aramark management’s failure to address or 

remedy the issue.  Mr. Hennessy responded that he was “dismayed” by the pizza dough issue, and 

requested that Costa limit the number of people he copied on his e-mail to “help reduce the inbox 

flow for people who will not be directly involved in correcting these issues.”  Costa had copied two 
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other individuals on his e-mail: Ms. Butler (RVP) and Ms. Parigi (HR).    

9. In sum, over the past two years, Costa has done everything in his power to improve 

Aramark’s food and safety compliance.  He has notified Aramark management of its failure to 

comply with food safety regulations. He has notified Aramark that its handling, cooking, and 

storage practices are contributing to unsafe food for its customers.  He has complained about 

Aramark’s failure to adequately support and enforce the training and education of its employees on 

their important responsibility to maintain a safe and healthy service environment.  He has constantly 

encouraged Aramark management to join him in fostering a culture where all team members are 

supported in their ability to reduce safety risks and prevent incidents, injuries, and food borne 

illnesses.   

10. Despite these actions and others, Costa’s efforts have been met with resistance, 

delay, and disregard by Aramark management.  

11. On November 3, 2014, after months of failed attempts to convince Aramark to 

address his concerns, Costa contacted outside authorities.  That day, Costa sent information relating 

to Aramark’s critical food and safety violations to the Kansas City Health Department, the U.S. 

Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), the Platte County Health Department, and others.   

12. Within hours of his complaints, the Kansas City Health Department sent inspectors 

to investigate, and found violations at 20 out of 26 stands, including 37 critical violations.   

13. On November 5, 2014, just two days later, Costa was contacted by Aramark 

management and told that he was suspended with pay.     

14. On November 11, 2014, Costa’s laptop was confiscated by a third party IT group at 

the direction of Aramark.   

15. On November 13, 2014, Costa was invited to a meeting with an HR Representative 
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for the stated purpose of gathering information about his concerns.  Unknown to him, the HR 

meeting was held at a law office.  During this meeting, Costa was then interrogated by a member of 

Aramark’s outside legal counsel.   

16. Since he notified both local and federal authorities of the critical food and safety 

violations, Aramark also attempted to publicly disparage the integrity of Costa for reporting the 

truth about Aramark’s food and safety practices.   

17. The actions taken by Aramark in response to Costa’s disclosure of critical food 

safety concerns are in violation of the law.         

VIOLATION OF THE FDA FOOD SAFETY MODERNIZATION ACT 

18. Section 402 of the FDA Food Safety Modernization Act (“FSMA”) prohibits entities 

engaged in manufacturing, processing, packing, transporting, distributing, receiving, holding, or 

importing food from retaliating against employees for engaging in certain protected activities, 

including reporting alleged violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”).  See 

21 U.S.C. § 399d.   

19. Specifically, the FSMA protects employees of covered entities from retaliation for: 

(1) providing information relating to any violation of the FDCA, or any act or omission that the 

employee reasonably believes to be a violation of the FDCA, to: (a) the employer, (b) the federal 

government, or (c) the attorney general of a state; (2) testifying, assisting, or participating in a 

proceeding concerning a violation of the FDCA; or (3) objecting to or refusing to participate in any 

activity that the employee reasonably believes to be in violation of the FDCA.   

20. Retaliatory actions include, but are not limited to, “discharge, … intimidating, 

threatening, restraining, coercing, blacklisting, or disciplining, any employee with respect to the 

employee’s compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment.” 29 C.F.R. § 
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1987.102(a).  

21. Aramark is a covered entity subject to the FSMA.   

22. As stated above, Costa provided Aramark’s senior leadership with information 

relating to multiple food safety violations (or what he reasonably believed to be food safety 

violations) of the FDCA.   

23. On November 3, 2014, after months of failed attempts to convince Aramark to 

address his concerns, Costa contacted outside authorities.  Costa sent information relating to 

Aramark’s critical food and safety violations to the Kansas City Health Department, the U.S. Food 

and Drug Administration (“FDA”), and the Platte County Health Department, among others.   

24. Aramark’s management immediately responded by suspending Costa, confiscating 

his laptop, threatening his continued employment, intimidating him through Aramark’s legal 

counsel, and publicly labeling him a “disgruntled employee.”   

25. Aramark’s actions constitute blatant violations of the whistleblower protections of 

the FSMA.   

26. On November 18, 2014, Costa contacted Aramark through legal counsel, and asked 

that he be immediately reinstated to his position as District Safety Manager.  Costa also asked that 

Aramark cease and desist from any future retaliatory action towards him as a result of his disclosure 

of critical food and safety violations to Aramark, local health departments, and the federal 

government.   

27. As of the date of this Complaint, Costa remains suspended from employment. 

WHEREFORE, Costa respectfully requests an order or decision from the Administration 

providing the following relief:    

A. Immediate reinstatement to his position as District Safety Manager, with the same 
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seniority status Costa would have had, but for the retaliation;  

B. Backpay, with interest;  

C. Compensation for any special damages sustained as a result of the retaliation, 

including litigation costs, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorney’s fees.   

D. Any other legal and equitable relief necessary to make Costa whole, including 

injunctive relief and compensatory damages.   

Dated:  December 18, 2014   Respectfully submitted, 

McCLELLAND LAW FIRM 
A Professional Corporation 

 
By:  /s/Ryan L. McClelland______   

Kelly L. McClelland, MO Bar #27156 
Kenneth E. Cox,     MO Bar #51861 
Jerome M. Patience, MO Bar #51965 
Ryan L. McClelland, MO Bar #59343 
The Flagship Building 
200 Westwoods Drive 
Liberty, Missouri   64068-1170 
Telephone:  (816) 781-0002 
Facsimile: (816) 781-1984 
kmcclelland@mcclellandlawfirm.com 
kcox@mcclellandlawfirm.com 
jpatience@mcclellandlawfirm.com 
ryan@mcclellandlawfirm.com 

 
ATTORNEYS FOR COMPLAINANT   


